## RECEIVED

10-25-2017

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

#### IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2015AP304-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

GERALD P. MITCHELL,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A FINAL ORDER ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR SHEBOYGAN COUNTY, THE HONORABLE TERENCE T. BOURKE, PRESIDING.

## BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT-PETITIONER

LINDA J. SCHAEFER
State Bar No. 1062975
SCHAEFER LAW FIRM, S.C.
242 Michigan Street, Suite 1
Sturgeon Bay, Wisconsin, 54235
(920) 746-3180
linda.schaefer@gmail.com

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant Gerald P. Mitchell

## **

#### ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The question addressed in this case is whether implied consent, as outlined in *Wis. Stat.* ¶ 343.305(3)(b), constitutes voluntary consent to a search such that a blood sample may be taken from an unconscious driver under the Fourth Amendment.

# POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Through its grant of review, this Court has indicated that oral argument and publication are appropriate.

#### INTRODUCTION

The State of Wisconsin violated Gerald Mitchell's right to protection from unreasonable search and seizure under the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution on May 30, 2013. On that date, he was subjected to a nonconsensual, warrantless blood draw on the occasion of arrest on suspicion of driving while intoxicated. A blood sample was taken without Mitchell's consent, without any other exception to the warrant requirement of the

Fourth Amendment, and without a warrant. The question before this court is nothing more, or less, than whether or not Mitchell gave his consent to the blood draw that was performed on him on May 30, 2013.

This Court should reverse the trial court's decision denying Mitchell's suppression motion and remand the matter to the trial court with instructions to grant Mitchell's suppression motion for two reasons:

First, Mitchell did not give actual consent to the blood draw. Law enforcement officers could not reasonably conclude that Mitchell made any meaningful response to the "Informing the Accused" form when it was only read to him after he became unconscious.

Second, any consent that the state may have imputed to Mitchell was not voluntary because it was not based on the totality of the circumstances surrounding Mitchell's arrest.

Third, there were no other exceptions, such as the existence of exigent circumstances, to the Fourth Amendment

warrant requirement that justified law enforcement officers' taking of Mitchell's blood without his consent or a search warrant.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 30, 2013, Gerald Mitchell was arrested on suspicion of Operating While Intoxicated (7<sup>th</sup>, 8<sup>th</sup>, or 9<sup>th</sup>), contrary to Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(a) and Operating with a Prohibited Alcohol Concentration (7<sup>th</sup>, 8<sup>th</sup>, or 9<sup>th</sup>), contrary to Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(a). (1.) The State filed a criminal complaint on July 1, 2013, when Mitchell made his initial appearance and bond was set, (1.) and a preliminary hearing occurred on July 17, 2013. (81.)

Mitchell filed a Motion to Suppress Evidence of Bodily Intrusion, which was heard on October 16, 2013. (23:1.) The Motion was denied. (23:52.) The case then proceeded to a jury trial on December 17, 2013, in Sheboygan County Circuit Court, Branch IV, the Honorable Terence T. Bourke presiding. (89.) Mitchell was convicted of Operating While Intoxicated (7<sup>th</sup>, 8<sup>th</sup>, or 9<sup>th</sup>), contrary to *Wis. Stat.* §346.63(1)(a) and Operating with a Prohibited Alcohol

Concentration (7<sup>th</sup>, 8<sup>th</sup>, or 9<sup>th</sup>), contrary to Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(a). (89:317.)

On February 28, 2014, Mitchell was sentenced to six years (three years of initial confinement followed by three years of extended supervision) in the Wisconsin Prison System on each of the two counts, to run concurrently to each other. (70:1.) Mitchell was originally granted 274 days of credit for time served, but on June 4, 2014 his Judgment of Conviction was amended to reflect 247 days of credit for time served. (69:1; 70:1.)

Mitchell filed a Notice of Intent to Pursue Post Conviction Relief on June 2, 2014, and this appeal ensued. (66:1-2.) Mitchell filed his Notice of Appeal on February 10, 2015, followed by his Brief of Defendant-Appellant on May 11, 2015. After submission on briefs to the Court of Appeals, Mitchell's case was held in abeyance pending the decision in *State v. Howes*, 2017 WI 18. Ultimately, the Court of Appeals filed a Petition for Certification to the Wisconsin Supreme Court on May 17, 2017, which was granted on September 11, 2017.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

During the afternoon of May 30, 2013 at approximately 3:17 pm, Officer Alex Jaeger [henceforth "Jaeger"] of the City of Sheboygan Police Department was dispatched to 1127 North Eighth Street in the City of Sheboygan in response to a call from a resident, a Mr. Alvin Swenson. (81:3-5; 86:5.) Swenson reported to Jaeger that he had seen Gerald Mitchell [henceforth "Mitchell"] leave Mitchell's residence and that Mitchell stumbled and seemed intoxicated as he got into a gray van. (81:6-7.)

Jaeger testified that approximately half an hour to forty five minutes passed between his first contact with Swenson and his eventual contact with Mitchell. (81:11.) Jaeger testified that, a short time later when he arrested Mitchell, Mitchell was able to perform a preliminary breath test, but that he did not ask Mitchell to attempt any standardized field sobriety tests due to his condition. (86:14-15.) Jaeger arrested Mitchell at 4:26 pm on May 30, 2013, immediately after Jaeger administered the preliminary breath test to Mitchell.

(86:15, 21.) Although two officers were required to place Mitchell in the squad car due to Mitchell's instability and behavior, Jaeger nevertheless took Mitchell to the police station rather than to the hospital for medical clearance. (81:13.)

Jaeger testified that it would take "about five minutes maybe" to travel from the initial contact with Mitchell to the Police Department. (86:17.) It is approximately a four minute drive from the location of the arrest to the hospital, and approximately a two minute drive from the arrest location to the Police Department. (23:2.)

Upon arrival at the police department Mitchell became somewhat unresponsive, although Jaeger testified that he did not know if it was because Mitchell "was so intoxicated or under the influence of something or having some type of a medical concern that he could no longer stand." (81:13.) Mitchell was lethargic and fell asleep, but would wake up with stimulation. (86:17.) At that time, Jaeger and his supervisor decided it was appropriate to take Mitchell to the

hospital for a blood draw. (86:38-40) Under oath, Jaeger testified as follows:

Q: You testified when you got back to the station you spoke with your supervisor, and you decided a blood draw would be more appropriate. You remember that?

A: Yes.

Q: Why?

A: Because of his current condition.

Q: That being that he was unconscious?

A: He was not unconscious quite. I mean, he was closing his eyes, and I mean, he was arousable.

Q: Okay. If he was going progressively downhill in front of you, why didn't you read him the Informing the Accused at that time?

A: I don't know.

Q: Were you at that time concerned that he was going to pass out?

A: It was a concern.

(86:38-40.)

Approximately one hour elapsed from the time of arrest to the time Mitchell arrived at the hospital. (86:22.) Upon his arrival at the hospital, Mitchell was losing consciousness and could not respond to "Informing the Accused" when Jaeger finally read it to him. (81:14; 86:18-

19.) Jaeger signed and dated the form on May 30, 2013 at 1724 hours. (86:19.) Mitchell's blood was eventually drawn at 1759 hours. (81:14; 86:28.)

Jaeger testified at the hearing on Mitchell's Motion to Suppress Evidence of Warrantless Bodily Intrusion regarding Jaeger's failure to apply for a warrant to draw Mitchell's blood. (86:37-40.) Jaeger testified as follows:

- Q: You could have gotten a warrant to draw Mr. Mitchell's blood at the hospital, couldn't you have?
- A: I could have applied.
- Q: I'm sorry. Yes. You could have applied, correct?
- A: I suppose.
- Q: Police do that on a fairly regular basis, don't they?
- A: Now yes.
- Q: How long does it typically take?
- A: I don't know. I haven't done a warrant blood draw yet. We just started doing those.
- Q: It's fair to say that you watched Mr. Mitchell's condition deteriorate in front of you, right?
- A: Yes.

(86:37-38.)

At the end of the suppression hearing, Attorney Haberman, for the State, argued that the blood draw in this case was done pursuant to the implied consent law found in Wis. Stat. § 343.305(3)(b), and that *Missouri v. McNeely*, 133 S.Ct. 1552, 81 USLW 4250, 185 L.Ed.2d 696 (2013) did not apply. (86:44.) He conceded that there were no other exigent circumstances surrounding the blood draw in the case. (86:44.) Attorney Wingrove, for Mitchell, argued that there was a warrantless blood draw, and that the officer could have gotten a warrant but did not do so. (86:47.) Attorney Wingrove further discussed issues raised by the manner in which implied consent was applied in this case. (86:47-48.) Wingrove pointed out to the court that Jaeger could have given Mitchell the "Informing the Accused" when Jaeger first asked Mitchell to do field sobriety. (86:48.)

Judge Bourke, in his decision, concluded that the State was correct in their position. (86:50.) The judge commented that "[t]his is a simple OWI investigation. Nothing more, nothing less. ... They go through the regular procedure.

Blood is drawn." (86:52.) Judge Bourke denied Mitchell's Motion to Suppress. (86:52.)

The case continued to trial on December 17, 2013, at which a jury found Mitchell guilty of Operating While Intoxicated (7<sup>th</sup>, 8<sup>th</sup>, or 9<sup>th</sup>), contrary to Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(a) and one count of Operating with a Prohibited Alcohol Concentration (7<sup>th</sup>, 8<sup>th</sup>, or 9<sup>th</sup>), contrary to Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(a). (89:317.)

Mitchell now appeals.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

An appellate court reviews a motion to suppress under a two-step analysis. *State v. Padley*, 2014 WI App 65, ¶¶ 15-16, 354 Wis.2d 545, 849 N.W.2d 867, review denied, 2014 WI 122, 855 N.W.2d 695 (citing *State v. Robinson*, 2009 WI App 97, 320 Wis.2d 689, 779 N.W.2d 721). First, the appellate court will uphold the factual findings of the circuit court unless they are clearly erroneous. *Padley*, 2014 WI App 65, ¶ 15. Second, the constitutionality of a statute is a question that an appellate court will review de novo. *Padley*,

2014 WI App 65, ¶ 16, (citing *State v. Cole*, 2003 WI 112, ¶ 10, 264 Wis.2d 520, 665 N.W.2d 328). The appellate court presumes that a statute is constitutional, and the challenger must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that it is unconstitutional. *Padley*, 2014 WI App 65, ¶ 16.

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. IMPLIED CONSENT AS OUTLINED IN WIS. STAT. § 343.305(3)(b) DOES NOT CONSTITUTE CONSENT TO A SEARCH UNDER THE FOURTH AMENDMENT.

Both the United States Supreme Court and the Wisconsin Supreme Court have held that a warrantless search of a person is unreasonable absent exigent circumstances or another exception to the Fourth Amendment. Katz v. United States, 389 U.S. 347, 357, 389 U.S. 347, 88 S.Ct. 507, 19 L.Ed.2d 576 (1967); State v. Murdock, 155 Wis.2d 217, 227, 455 N.W.2d 618 (1990). unreasonable, Although warrantless searches conducted pursuant "voluntarily given consent" nevertheless do fall within well-established exception to the Fourth

Amendment's warrant requirement. *State v. Williams*, 2002 WI 94, ¶ 18, 255 Wis.2d 1, 646 N.W.2d 834; *State v. Artic*, 2010 WI 83, ¶ 29, 327 Wi.2d 392, 786 N.W.2d 430 ("Warrantless searches are *per se* unreasonable, subject to several clearly delineated exceptions.").

Wisconsin, like all states, has an implied consent statute. Wis.Stat. § 343.305 (relevant excerpts in Appendix E) provides a basis for law enforcement to request a blood, breath, or urine sample from a driver under certain circumstances. Two sections of the statute permit a law enforcement officer to request a breath, blood or urine sample from a conscious person suspected of driving while intoxicated. Wis.Stat. § 343.305(a), (am). Further, when the person is unconscious, samples of breath, blood, or urine may be administered, because the person did not withdraw his implied consent. Wis.Stat. § 343.305(3)(b). If a person should refuse to provide a sample of breath, blood, or urine, that conduct is punishable. Wis.Stat. § 343.305(4). All of this information comes to the driver when the law enforcement officer, as required, reads to him "Informing the Accused," which is provided in Wis.Stat. § 343.305(4).

Law enforcement officers may request a sample of breath, blood, or urine. The act of requesting implies the possibility that the person may refuse the request, and in fact that possibility is addressed in "Informing the Accused," a specific statement to the person from whom a sample is requested. That statement describes the penalties that devolve upon refusal to give consent to the blood sample. Importantly for this discussion, law enforcement officers "shall" read the required statement. Wis. Stat. § 343.305(4).

Wisconsin courts distinguish between implied consent and actual consent. Actual consent to a blood draw is not "implied consent." *Padley*, 2014 WI App 65, ¶ 25 ("...actual consent to a blood draw is not "implied consent," but rather a possible result of requiring the driver to choose whether to consent under the implied consent law.").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Mitchell's "Informing the Accused" is found at Appendix E.

Thus, the *Padley* court concluded that the implied consent law by itself does not permit law enforcement officers to require a driver to provide a blood sample, but rather the statute permits law enforcement officers to request a blood sample from a driver who has previously agreed that the law allows an officer to ask for such a sample. *Padley*, 2014 WI App 65, ¶¶ 26-27. ("[A] proper implied consent law authorizes law enforcement to present drivers with a difficult, but permissible, choice between consent or penalties for violating the implied consent law,...".). *Padley*, 2014 WI App 65,  $\P$  28. "The purpose of the implied consent statute is to "persuad[e] drivers to consent to a requested chemical test by attaching a penalty for refusal to do so." Padley, 2014 WI App 65, ¶ 24, "The implied consent law does not compel a blood sample as a driver has the right to refuse to give a sample. ...the choice is solely with the driver." State v. **Blackman**, 371 Wis.2d 635, ¶ 11, 886 N.W.2d 94 (Wis. App. 2016). *Padley* also provides that actual consent is given after being read the "Informing the 'Accused" form and giving affirmative consent to the blood draw. *Padley*, 2014 WI App

65, ¶ 39. ("...the implied consent law is explicitly designed to allow the driver, and not the police officer, to make the choice as to whether the driver will give or decline to give actual consent to a blood draw when put to the choice between consent or automatic sanctions. ... choosing the "yes" option [to the "Informing the Accused" Form] affirms the driver's implied consent and constitutes actual consent for the blood draw.") If the driver refuses to consent, he or she thereby withdraws "implied consent" and accepts the consequences of that choice." Padley, 2014 WI App 65, ¶ 39. The consequence for refusal to submit to a chemical test of breath, blood, or urine is significant: it leads to a separate criminal offense. State v. Zielke, 137 Wis.2d 39, 41, 403 N.W.2d 427 (1987). ("the implied consent law...creates a separate offense that is triggered upon a driver's refusal to submit to a chemical test of his breath, blood, or urine.")

Logic demands that if there is a provision for an alternative, then the alternative must exist. When alternatives exist, a choice exists. Therefore, since refusal is a statutory

alternative for a driver faced with a request by law enforcement for a blood sample, then that driver may make a choice between the alternatives. Since consent or withdrawal of consent are the only two alternatives contemplated in Wisconsin's implied consent statute, the prior "implied" consent can logically be denied or revoked. The choice is meaningless without some mechanism by which a person may reasonably assert his choice. The mechanism by which a person confirms their consent (or withdraws their consent) to a blood draw is through the use of the "Informing the Accused" Form.

Clearly, then, law enforcement officers may not assume that, at some time in the past, a driver irrevocably consented to having his blood taken. By its own provisions the implied consent law is revocable and establishes a mechanism for a person to revoke that consent and refuse the blood draw at the time law enforcement requests the sample. Because implied consent is revocable, and can thus be withdrawn, it cannot function as an automatic consent for a

blood sample. Actual consent is a different kind of consent and happens at the time of the blood test.

Here, Mitchell was conscious when he was taken into custody. He was conscious upon arrival at the police station. He was still conscious when he arrived at the hospital after being detained at the police station. During this entire time, a period of almost two hours, provisions of Wis. Stat. § 343.305(3)(a) or (am) applied because Mitchell was conscious and capable of consenting to the blood draw, yet law enforcement made no attempt to inform Mitchell of his right to withdraw his consent. Mitchell had no opportunity to give or withdraw his consent.

Once Mitchell lost consciousness, law enforcement applied a different subsection of the Wisconsin implied consent statute, namely the "unconscious driver provision." Wis. Stat. § 343.305(3)(b). Under this provision, the driver's actual consent is not needed because his consent deemed not withdrawn. The blood sample may be taken without further consent or warrant. In Mitchell's case, law enforcement

waited until he lost consciousness, and only then read him "Informing the Accused." Mitchell was unable to withdraw his consent to the blood sample at that point, and law enforcement obtained a sample of his blood with his "consent" because failure to withdraw consent amounts to consent under Wis. Stat. § 343.305(3)(b).

"[T]he Fourth Amendment does not allow such per se rules [regarding exigency] in the context of warrantless investigatory blood draws." State v. Kennedy, 2014 WI 132, ¶ 29, 359 Wis.2d 454, 856 N.W.2d 834. It is not a long jump from a prohibition against categorical rules regarding exigency to categorical rules regarding consent. However, Wis. Stat. § 343.305(3)(b) presents just such a categorical rule as it permits warrantless blood draws on a per se basis from unconscious persons, while consent or a warrant is required to take the same sample from a conscious person. The law presumes that all unconscious persons, unable by definition to provide actual consent to a blood sample, have impliedly given actual and voluntary consent to blood testing, while conscious drivers may choose whether or not to consent. By virtue of his physical situation, regardless of the reason for that situation, an unconscious person has apparently lost the protection against unreasonable search and seizure that is guaranteed to all citizens under the Fourth Amendment.<sup>2</sup>

The unconscious driver provisions of Wis. Stat. § 343.305(b) do not further any legitimate state interest and offer no compelling reason why an unconscious driver should be afforded less constitutional protection than another driver simply on the basis of his state of consciousness. The process of taking a blood sample is effectively the same in either case. The process of obtaining a warrant is the same in either case. The Wisconsin implied consent law creates an unreasonable situation in which a person who actively violates the law, e.g. refuses to submit to a blood sample, has greater constitutional protection via the warrant requirement than does a person

<sup>2</sup> Although the Fourth Amendment does not contain specific language requiring the government to obtain search warrants, *McNeely* teaches that "warrants must generally be obtained." *Missouri v.* 

McNeely, 133 S.Ct. 1552, 1569.

who is unconscious and unable to respond, and who does not have the protection of the warrant requirement. The state thus imposes a greater burden on the person who cannot comply with the law than it imposes upon the person who affirmatively violates the law. There is simply no compelling reason for the Fourth Amendment rights of an unconscious person to be respected any less than the Fourth Amendment rights of a conscious person.

It is unreasonable to conclude that an unconscious Mitchell gave actual consent to the blood draw. Law enforcement used a legal fiction to assert consent given not by Mitchell but rather through a statutory construction essentially dispensing with Mitchell's Fourth Amendment protection against unreasonable search and seizure. Mitchell did not give consent to the warrantless blood draw performed on his person on May 30, 2013.

II. "IMPLIED CONSENT" DEEMED TO HAVE
OCCURRED BEFORE A DEFENDANT IS A
SUSPECT IS NOT VOLUNTARY CONSENT
FOR PURPOSES OF THE CONSENT
EXCEPTION TO THE FOURTH
AMENDMENT'S WARRANT REQUIREMENT
BECAUSE IMPLIED CONSENT DOES NOT
ADDRESS THE TOTALITY OF THE
CIRCUMSTANCES AT THE TIME OF ARREST.

Even if the State can demonstrate that consent was given in fact, it must also prove that consent was given freely and voluntarily. *Schneckloth v. Bustamonte*, 412 U.S. 218, 222, 93 S.Ct. 2041, 36 L.Ed.2d 854. The voluntariness of a person's consent to a search is "to be determined from the totality of all the circumstances." *Schneckloth v. Bustamonte*, 412 U.S. 218, 248. In determining voluntariness of consent, the court will consider the totality of the circumstances, including the circumstances surrounding consent and the characteristics of the defendant. *Artic*, 2010 WI 83, ¶¶ 32-33.

Well before the *McNeely* decision, holding that the totality of circumstances in each situation must be considered, *Missouri v. McNeely*, 133 S.Ct. 1552, 1556, the Wisconsin Supreme Court held that "the reasonableness of a warrantless nonconsensual test [for blood alcohol content] . . . will depend upon the *totality of the circumstances* [emphasis added] of each individual case." *State v. Faust*, 2004 WI 99, 274 Wis.2d 183, 682 N.W.2d 371, n. 16.

The "totality of the circumstances" as a determining factor in consent represents a somewhat flexible concept. **Schneckloth v. Bustamonte** provides one list of factors that together make up the "totality of the circumstances," including, among others: mental illness or intoxication of the person; that the person was under arrest at the time of consent; that the person was subject to physical restriction. **Schneckloth v. Bustamonte**, 412 U.S. 218, 226-227.

Since the totality of the circumstances is a determinant of the voluntariness of a person's consent to a search, it is necessary then to consider Mitchell's circumstances during his time in police custody on May 30, 2013. At trial, the state proved to the jury's satisfaction that Mitchell was intoxicated at the time of his arrest. Mitchell was certainly in custody, as he was not free to leave and go about his business; law enforcement officers restrained Mitchell and controlled his movements. Although Mitchell maintained consciousness for most of the period of time while he was in custody and before being taken to the hospital, he lost consciousness at some point after arriving at the hospital.

Significantly, Officer Jaeger failed to read Mitchell the "Informing the Accused" form until after Mitchell lost consciousness. Obviously, Mitchell could not respond at that time, due to his unconscious state, even though he could have responded earlier; to infer that his consent to the blood draw was voluntary when in fact he was unconscious is an unreasonable conclusion. It is equally unreasonable to conclude that, while unconscious, Mitchell gave voluntary consent to the blood sample because he did not (could not) withdraw his implied consent.

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