RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 08-14-2015

COURT OF APPEAL CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT II

Case No. 2015AP304-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

GERALD P. MITCHELL,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR SHEBOYGAN COUNTY, THE HONORABLE TERENCE T. BOURKE, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General

MICHAEL C. SANDERS Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1030550

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 266-0284 (608) 266-9594 (Fax) sandersmc@doj.state.wi.us

A. Introduction.

The circuit court denied Mitchell's motion to suppress evidence because it concluded that his blood was properly drawn under the implied consent law (86:50-51). The court concluded that Officer Jaeger had probable cause to request the blood draw, and that Mitchell did not withdraw the consent that he gave under the implied consent law (86:50-51).

The circuit court concluded that "no warrant was required because Mr. Mitchell was unconscious." The court explained:

The officer's testimony was that he took Mr. Mitchell after the arrest to the Police Department. Mr. Mitchell was -- it sounded to me like he was kind of with it initially, but he was deteriorating. And they get to the police station, and they're not sure that he can submit to a breath sample. So they take him to the hospital. And on the way to the hospital, he deteriorates to the point where he cannot be shaken awake. To me that's unconscious.

And the law -- when I refer to the law I'm referring to 343.305(3)(b) -- makes clear that an unconscious operator has -- cannot withdraw their consent to a blood sample. The only issue really regarding the warrantless draw is whether or not there is probable cause. That's the threshold question to whether or not you can do the blood sample.

And I find there is probable cause.

 $(86:50.)^2$

² The court also rejected Mitchell's argument that his rights were violated because his blood was drawn at a hospital, and the test results were disclosed in violation of federal law (86:51-52). Mitchell

Mitchell makes two arguments on appeal, both concerning the circuit court's decision denying his motion to suppress the results of a test of his blood. He asserts that the test results should have been suppressed because his blood was drawn without a warrant, without his consent, and without a showing of exigency (Mitchell's Br. at 17-18). Mitchell also asserts that the blood draw was not proper under Wis. Stat. § 343.305(3)(b), under which a person who is unconscious is presumed not to have withdrawn consent to a request for a blood draw, because the officer could have requested a blood draw while he was conscious, but did not do so (Mitchell's Br. at 19-20).

As the State will explain, the circuit court correctly denied Mitchell's motion to suppress evidence. Mitchell's first argument fails because his blood was drawn with his consent, under the implied consent law. His second argument fails because nothing in the implied consent law requires that the unconscious driver provision does not apply when an officer failed to request a sample when the person was conscious, and because nothing in the record indicates that the officer did anything wrong in not requesting a blood sample from Mitchell when he was conscious. The circuit court properly denied Mitchell's motion to suppress evidence, and properly imposed judgment of conviction, and this court should affirm the judgment of conviction.

B. Standard of review.

"Whether evidence should be suppressed is a question of constitutional fact." State v. Johnson, 2007 WI 32, ¶ 13, 299 Wis. 2d 675, 729 N.W.2d 182 (quoting State v. Knapp, 2005 WI 127, ¶ 19, 285 Wis. 2d 86, 700 N.W.2d 899). Constitutional facts consist of "the circuit court's findings of historical fact, and its application of these historical facts to constitutional principles." Id. (citation omitted). The circuit court's findings of historical fact are reviewed under the

does not challenge the court's ruling on this issue, or its ruling on probable cause, in this appeal.

clearly erroneous standard. *Id*. The court's application of constitutional principles to those historical facts is reviewed de novo. *Id*.

C. Mitchell's blood was properly drawn under Wis. Stat. § 343.305(2), Wisconsin's implied consent law.

Mitchell argues that the results of a test of his blood should have been suppressed because Officer Jaeger did not obtain a search warrant, and none of the exceptions to the warrant requirement apply (Mitchell's Br. at 17-18). Specifically, he argues that his blood was drawn without a warrant, "without his consent or withdrawal of consent," and without a showing of exigency (Mitchell's Br. at 17).

Mitchell points out that in *Missouri v. McNeely*, 569 U.S. __, 133 S. Ct. 1552, 1556 (2013), the Supreme Court held that "dissipation of alcohol is not per se, an emergency situation that permits a warrantless blood draw" (Mitchell's Br. at 15). As the Wisconsin Supreme Court has stated, "The Supreme Court held in *McNeely* that the dissipation of alcohol in the bloodstream by itself does not create a per se exigency so as to justify a warrantless investigatory blood draw of an OWI suspect." *State v. Kennedy*, 2014 WI 132 ¶ 14, 359 Wis. 2d 454, 856 N.W.2d 834 (citing *McNeely*, 133 S. Ct. at 1563).

McNeely has no bearing on this case because it dealt only with the exigent circumstance exception to the warrant requirement. In the current case, Mitchell's blood was not drawn on the basis of an exigent circumstance. It was drawn on the basis of another exception to the warrant requirement—consent.

In *McNeely*, the Supreme Court explicitly recognized that consent, and specifically implied consent, is an exception to the warrant requirement. The Court noted that implied consent laws are "legal tools" to enforce drunkdriving laws, and that "[s]uch laws impose significant consequences when a motorist withdraws consent; typically

the motorist's driver's license is immediately suspended or revoked, and most States allow the motorist's refusal to take a BAC test to be used as evidence against him in a subsequent criminal prosecution." *McNeely*, 133 S. Ct. at 1566.

Mitchell's argument that his blood was drawn without his consent is simply wrong. As he acknowledges, "Wisconsin's statutory authority to draw blood was invoked under § 343.305(3)(b) Wis. Stats., which is commonly known as the Implied Consent Law" (Mitchell's Br. at 17). Under the implied consent law, any person who operates a motor vehicle upon a Wisconsin highway "is deemed to have given consent to one or more tests of his or her breath, blood or urine, for the purpose of determining the presence or quantity in his or her blood or breath, of alcohol . . . when requested to do so by a law enforcement officer under sub. (3) (a)." Wis. Stat. § 343.305(2). Subsection (3)(a) provides that "[u]pon arrest of a person for violation of s. 346.63 (1) ... a law enforcement officer may request the person to provide one or more samples of his or her breath, blood or urine for the purpose specified under sub. (2)." Wis. Stat. § 343.305(3)(a).

Subsection (3)(b) provides that "[a] person who is unconscious or otherwise not capable of withdrawing consent is presumed not to have withdrawn consent under this subsection, and if a law enforcement officer has probable cause to believe that the person has violated s. 346.63 (1) . . . one or more samples specified in par. (a) or (am) may be administered to the person." Wis. Stat. § 343.305(3)(b).

In this case, it is undisputed that Officer Jaeger arrested Mitchell for OWI in violation of § 346.63(1). Officer Jaeger was therefore authorized to request one or more samples from Mitchell under § 343.305(3)(a). It is also undisputed that when Officer Jaeger requested a blood sample, Mitchell was unconscious, or otherwise not capable of withdrawing the consent to a request for a sample that he

gave under § 343.305(2) when he operated a motor vehicle on a Wisconsin highway.

Under the plain language of the implied consent law, by operating a motor vehicle on a Wisconsin highway, Mitchell gave consent to a blood draw when it was requested by a law enforcement officer. Wis. Stat. § 343.305(3)(a). Under the plain language of the law, a person who is unconscious is presumed not to have withdrawn that consent. Wis. Stat. § 343.305(3)(b). As the circuit court concluded, Mitchell was unconscious, and his blood was properly drawn under the implied consent law (86:50).

Mitchell's second argument is that it was improper to invoke the implied consent law in this case. He acknowledges that he was unconscious when his blood was drawn (Mitchell's Br. at 19). But he argues that the implied consent law should not apply when an officer could request a blood sample from a person when the person is conscious, but instead waits until the person is unconscious to request a blood sample (Mitchell's Br. at 19-20).

Mitchell asserts that he was in custody for approximately an hour before he arrived at the hospital, and that he could communicate during this time period. He argues that

because Jaeger did not make a reasonable attempt to obtain Mitchell's consent or withdrawal of consent to the blood draw while Mitchell was still conscious, Wis. Stats. § 343.305(3)(b) should not have been invoked to permit a warrantless blood draw after Jaeger waited until Mitchell lost consciousness before proceeding with the blood draw.

(Mitchell's Br. at 20.)

Mitchell's argument fails for at least two reasons. First, there is nothing in the statute that requires an officer to request a sample before a person becomes unconscious. And Mitchell cites no case providing that a blood draw is improper if the officer could have requested a blood sample

from a person before the person becomes unconscious but failed to do so.

Second, the facts of the case do not demonstrate that Officer Jaeger did anything even arguably unreasonable in not requesting a blood sample from Mitchell before he became unconscious. Officer Jaeger arrested Mitchell for OWI at 4:26 p.m. (86:35). He took Mitchell to the police station "for further processing" (86:16-17). Officer Jaeger testified that it took "about five minutes" to get to the police station, and that during this period, Mitchell's condition was "declining" (86:17). He said that Mitchell

was becoming more lethargic in his movements, had greater difficulty in maintaining balance, had to be physically helped out of the squad car when we got there. And once he was in a holding cell with his handcuffs removed, he began to close his eyes and sort of fall asleep or perhaps pass out.

(86:17.)

Officer Jaeger testified that Mitchell "would wake up with stimulation" (86:17). He said that "based on that condition, I didn't feel that a breath test would be appropriate" (86:17). Officer Jaeger said he spoke to his lieutentant, and they decided that a blood test would be appropriate, so Officer Jaeger took Mitchell to the hospital (86:17).

Officer Jaeger said it took "[e]ight minutes maybe" to get to the hospital, and that during this period, Mitchell "appeared to be completely incapacitated, would not wake up to any type of stimulation" (86:18). He said that when they arrived at the hospital, Mitchell "had to be escorted into the hospital by wheelchair" (86:18-19).

Officer Jaeger's testimony makes clear that there was no reasonable opportunity to request a sample from Mitchell, and that even if he would have had an opportunity, he would have requested a breath sample, not a blood sample. Officer Jaeger could not have requested a sample from Mitchell until after Jaeger placed him under arrest. See Wis. Stat. § 343.305(3)(a). He testifed that he put Mitchell in the squad car and took him to the hospital, intending to request a breath test (86:17). He could not reasonably have requested a sample while driving, because he had to read the Informing the Accused form to Mitchell, and because Mitchell was "declining" (86:17). When they arrived, Officer Jaeger put Mitchell into a holding cell, and Mitchell closed his eyes and fell asleep or passed out (86:17). Officer Jaeger could not reasonably have requested a sample at this point, because Mitchell was not conscious.

Officer Jaeger spoke to his lieutenant, and they decided that Mitchell was so intoxicated that they could not conduct a breath test (86:17). By this point, Mitchell was obviously unconscious or otherwise not capable of withdrawing his consent. During the short drive to the hospital, Mitchell was "completely incapacitated" (86:18). There is no evidence that he regained consciousness before his blood was withdrawn.

Even if it were required that an officer make a reasonable effort to request a sample from a person while the person is conscious, Officer Jaeger had no real opportunity to request a sample while Mitchell was conscious and capable of deciding whether to affirm the consent he had already given to a blood draw, or withdraw that consent. Officer Jaeger complied with the implied consent law by requesting a sample after he arrested Mitchell for OWI. Mitchell was unconscious, and did not withdraw the consent he impliedly gave when he operated a motor vehicle a Wisconsin highway. on § 343.305(3)(b). because Mitchell was unconscious otherwise not capable of withdrawing his consent, it is presumed that he did not withdraw it. Officer Jaeger therefore had hospital personnel draw the sample. Nothing that Officer Jaeger did was improper or unreasonable under the implied consent law.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons explained above, the State respectfully requests that this court affirm the judgment convicting Gerald P. Mitchell of operating a motor vehicle while under the influence of an intoxicant and with a prohibited alcohol concentration.